
Page 1

AGENDA 
Meeting: Eastern Area Planning Committee

Place: Wessex Room - The Corn Exchange, Market Place, Devizes, 
SN10 1HS

Date: Thursday 10 December 2015

Time: 6.00 pm

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Adam Brown, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718038 or email 
adam.brown@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115.

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk 

Membership:

Cllr Charles Howard (Chairman)
Cllr Mark Connolly (Vice Chairman)
Cllr Stewart Dobson
Cllr Peter Evans

Cllr Nick Fogg MBE
Cllr Richard Gamble
Cllr Jerry Kunkler
Cllr Paul Oatway

Substitutes:

Cllr Terry Chivers
Cllr Ernie Clark
Cllr Anna Cuthbert
Cllr Dennis Drewett

Cllr Jeff Osborn
Cllr James Sheppard
Cllr Philip Whitehead
Cllr Christopher Williams

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


Page 2

RECORDING AND BROADCASTING NOTIFICATION

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 
Council’s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv.  At the start of the meeting, the 
Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and 
sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council.

By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of 
those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes.

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.
 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they accept 
that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in relation to any 
such claims or liabilities.

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on the Council’s website along with this agenda and available on request.
If you have any queries please contact Democratic Services using the contact details 
above.

http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/


Page 3

AGENDA

Part I 

Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public

1  Apologies for Absence 

To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting.

2  Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 8)

To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 08 
October 2015.

3  Declarations of Interest 

To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee.

4  Chairman's Announcements 

To receive any announcements through the Chair.

5  Public Participation and Councillors' Questions 

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.

Statements
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register in person no 
later than 5.50pm on the day of the meeting.

The Chairman will allow up to 3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against 
an application and up to 3 speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each 
speaker will be given up to 3 minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to 
the item being considered. The rules on public participation in respect of 
planning applications are detailed in the Council’s Planning Code of Good 
Practice.

Questions 
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 
questions on non-determined planning applications. Those wishing to ask 
questions are required to give notice of any such questions in writing to the 



Page 4

officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 5pm on 03 December 
2015. Please contact the officer named on the front of this agenda for further 
advice. Questions may be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the 
matter is urgent.

Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website.

6  Planning Appeals 

To receive details of the completed and pending appeals.

7  Planning Applications 

To consider and determine the following planning applications.

7a  15/09105/FUL - Land to the South of Silverlands Road, Rowde, 
Devizes, SN10 2BF (Pages 9 - 26)

6 new single storey dwellings and associated parking and access from Silverlands Road 
(Affordable rent dwellings for the elderly, provided by Wiltshire Council).

7b  15/07022/FUL - The Coach House, Winterbourne Monkton SN4 9NF 
(Pages 27 - 36)

Erection of new general purpose building to be used as a learning centre, office and 
storage space and creation of new access and parking area.

8  Urgent items 

Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency  

Part II 

Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be excluded 
because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF THE EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 
ON 8 OCTOBER 2015 IN THE WESSEX ROOM - THE CORN EXCHANGE, 
MARKET PLACE, DEVIZES, SN10 1HS.

Present:

Cllr Charles Howard (Chairman), Cllr Mark Connolly (Vice Chairman), Cllr Peter Evans, 
Cllr Nick Fogg MBE, Cllr Richard Gamble, Cllr Paul Oatway and Cllr James Sheppard 
(Substitute)

77. Apologies for Absence

Apologies were received from:

Cllr Stewart Dobson
Cllr Jerry Kunkler

Cllr Stewart Dobson was substituted by Cllr James Sheppard.

78. Minutes of the Previous Meeting

Resolved
 
To approve and sign as a true and correct record the minutes of the 
meeting held on 17 September 2015.

79. Declarations of Interest

None.

80. Chairman's Announcements

None.

81. Public Participation and Councillors' Questions

None.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



82. Planning Appeals

The appeals update was received. In particular it was noted that the 
performance in the area covered by the Eastern Area Planning Committee 
exceeded the national average.
 
Resolved

To note the 2015 Appeals Performance Report for the area covered by the 
Eastern Area Planning Committee. 

83. Planning Applications

84. 15/01052/OUT - Consideration of Refusal Reasons

Public Participation
Cllr Mervyn Hall spoke in opposition to the application on behalf of Marlborough 
Town Council

The Area Development Manager introduced the report which detailed possible 
reasons for refusal as requested at the previous meeting of the Eastern Area 
Planning Committee on 17 September 2015. Key refusal reasons were 
landscape impact; replacement of existing open space; and archaeology.

There were no late items.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
of the officer. It was clarified that Action River Kennet (ARK) were entitled to 
make their own representations to any appeal inspector if an appeal was 
submitted.. ARK would be able to provide evidence on any reasons they wished 
to pursue and the Planning Inspector would have to take these into account. It 
was also explained that at an appeal existing representations received by the 
Council from all third parties would be sent for the Planning Inspector to 
consider in addition with any new information that may have been submitted.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the 
Committee, as detailed above.

A debate followed where the Committee considered the possible reasons for 
refusal detailed in the report. Possible reasons for refusal from ARK were also 
considered. 

It was discussed whether the application would have a negative effect on 
wildlife surrounding the River Og. The ecological survey conducted by Thames 
Water for a pipeline and by the applicant was considered in reference to this 
issue.

The issue of replacing existing open space with equivalent open space 
provision was discussed. Consideration was given to the fact that the existing 
play area was not previously a water meadow. The Committee debated whether 

Page 6



the recreational space offered in the application was acceptable as a 
replacement to the existing recreational area.

Resolved

To refuse the application for the following reasons:

1. The proposed development is located within the North Wessex 
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, at the interface 
between the built-up area of Marlborough and the countryside 
beyond. Government policy, as set out in the NPPF (paragraph 115), 
is that great weight should be given to conserving the landscape 
and scenic beauty of this area. The proposed development would 
conflict with this policy and would have a harmful impact on the 
landscape of this part of the AONB, through the change of use and 
associated works required to convert that part of the site lying 
within the water meadows to casual open space, and through the 
works required to the landscape screen between the water 
meadows and the proposed equipped play area and MUGA, which 
would open up the new housing to direct view from nearby rights of 
way and would reduce the existing screening of the built-up area 
that currently enhances the setting of the town at this rural/urban 
interface. This would conflict with Core Policy 51 of the Wiltshire 
Core Strategy. 

2. The proposed development would result in the loss of the main part 
of the existing and long established open space and recreational 
area at Rabley Wood. This existing space provides residents of 
nearby houses with a valued, safe and accessible area that enjoys 
open and elevated views of the surrounding landscape of the area 
of outstanding natural beauty and that enjoys a maturing 
landscaped boundary that provides a natural form of enclosure at 
the interface with the countryside beyond. The proposed 
replacement facilities would be less accessible from many of these 
houses, and in some cases would involve the crossing of a road to 
serve the new dwellings, making them less safe and given the 
greater distance involved, the new area would also have less 
oversight from existing dwellings. The proposal would therefore fail 
to meet the requirement in NPPF paragraph 74 in that the loss 
resulting from the proposed development would not be replaced by 
equivalent or better provision in terms of a suitable location that 
enjoys the benefits the current location offers. This would conflict 
with Core Policy 52 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy, which requires 
replacement green infrastructure to be equal to or above its current 
value and quality and that maintains the integrity and functionality 
of the green infrastructure network. 

3. The archaeological assessment submitted with the application has 
indicated some potential for archaeological remains to be impacted 
by the proposed development. In these circumstances, it is 
considered necessary for a field evaluation to be carried out to fully 

Page 7



assess the potential impact on any heritage asset of archaeological 
interest, in accordance with paragraph 128 of the NPPF.

85. Urgent items

(Duration of meeting:  6.00  - 6.45 pm)

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Adam Brown, of Democratic 
Services, direct line 01225 718038, e-mail adam.brown@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115

Page 8



REPORT FOR EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No. 1

Date of Meeting 10 December 2015

Application Number 15/09105/FUL

Site Address Land to the South of Silverlands Road, Rowde, Devizes
SN10 2BF

Proposal 6 new single storey dwellings and associated parking and access 
from Silverlands Road (Affordable rent dwellings for the elderly, 
provided by Wiltshire Council)

Applicant Wiltshire Council

Parish Council ROWDE

Electoral Division BROMHAM ROWDE AND POTTERNE 

Grid Ref 398187  162338

Type of application Full Planning

Case Officer Morgan Jones

Reason for the application being considered by Committee 

This application is brought to committee in accordance with the Council’s Planning Scheme 
of Delegation as the application has been submitted by Wiltshire Council and letters of 
objection have been received from local residents raising material planning considerations.

1. Purpose of Report 

The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation 
that the application be approved subject to the Council signing a Unilateral Agreement to 
ensure the dwellings are delivered as affordable units and retained as such.
 
2. Report Summary

The key issues for consideration are:- 

- Principle of development; 
- Need for affordable housing;
- Loss of agricultural land; 
- Design, layout and impact on residential amenity;
- Visual Impact;
- Impact on highway safety;
- Ecological Impact;
- Impact on heritage assets;
- Environmental impacts, flood risk & drainage; 
- Planning obligations.

Page 9

Agenda Item 7a



3. Site Description

The application site comprises an area of land on the southern outskirts of the village of 
Rowde. The site lies outside the Limits of Development for Rowde as defined on Inset Map 
33 of the former Kennet Local Plan. The site consists of an area of open undeveloped 
agricultural land and for the purpose of assessing this proposal is classified as open 
countryside. The site extends over an area of approximately 1.8 acres and its northern 
boundary adjoins the rear gardens of the properties within Silverlands Road. The houses on 
this road were also located outside the limits of development when approved in 2005, 
however the dwellings are all affordable units granted planning permission under the then  
housing exceptions policy in the Kennet Local Plan. 

Site Location Plan

4. Planning History

The application forms part of an agricultural field and has no planning history. As noted 
above, the Silverlands Road development was granted outline planning permission in 2005 
(planning application reference K/47035/O) and reserved matters consent in 2007 (planning 
application reference K/56098/RM) for 18 two storey houses. There is no other planning 
history relevant to this current proposal. 

5. The Proposal

The application seeks full planning permission for a residential development scheme of 6 
single storey dwellings for the elderly (for affordable rent) with access from the Silverlands 
Road estate road. The scheme will be delivered by Wiltshire Council.

Page 10



Proposed Site Layout

Proposed Elevation

-
6. Planning Policy

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) with particular regard to Chapters 1 
‘Building a strong, competitive economy’, 4 ‘Promoting sustainable transport’, 6 ‘Delivering a 
wide choice of high quality homes’ and 7 ‘Requiring Good Design’.   

The adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy, with particular regard to: 
- Core Policy 1 Settlement Strategy; 
- Core Policy 2 Delivery Strategy; 
- Core Policy 3 Infrastructure Requirements; 
- Core Policy 12 Spatial Strategy: Devizes Community Area; 
- Core Policy 41 Sustainable Construction and Low-Carbon Energy; 
- Core Policy 43 Providing Affordable Homes; 
- Core Policy 44 Rural Exceptions Sites; 
- Core Policy 45 Meeting Wiltshire’s Housing Needs; 
- Core Policy 50 Biodiversity and Geodiversity; 
- Core Policy 51 Landscape; 
- Core Policy 52 Green Infrastructure; 
- Core Policy 57 Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping; 
- Core Policy 60 Sustainable Transport; 
- Core Policy 61 Transport & Development; 
- HC35 Recreation Provision on Small Housing Sites (Appendix D saved Kennet Local 

Page 11



Plan policy). 

Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011 – 2016: Car Parking Strategy (March 2011). 

Wiltshire and Swindon Waste Core Strategy 2006 – 2026 (July 2009).

7. Consultations

Rowde Parish Council – Support the proposal subject to no construction work on weekends 
and no construction movements to and from the site outside school hours during the 
weekdays. It was also requested that the construction vehicles do not park in Silverlands 
Road or Springfield Road and the bungalows should be offered to local residents in the first 
instance.

Thames Water – No objections. 

Wiltshire Council Highways – No objections, subject to conditions. 

Wiltshire Council Public Protection team – No objection, subject to conditions.

Wiltshire Council Ecologist – No objection, subject to conditions. 

Wiltshire Council Drainage Engineer – No objection, subject to conditions.

Wiltshire Council New Housing team - No objection.

Wiltshire Council Archaeologist – No objection.

8. Publicity
The application has been publicised via both press and site notices and letters sent to 
properties within close proximity of the site. As a result of the publicity 4 letters have been 
received raising the following concerns:

- Silverlands Road is a cul-de-sac which just about copes with the volume of traffic, 
even at the times of the “school run” when the area becomes a very busy drop-off 
zone. However, when this road becomes a through-fare to further houses the more 
traffic builds up and the likelihood of an accident becomes a concern; 

- Silverlands Road is simply not suitable as a through road. It is perfectly acceptable to 
create a link road through from Marsh Lane or direct from a quieter off shoot of 
Springfield Road;

- The adjoining land has been set aside for potential development and will inevitably 
be developed;

- There seems to be a complete lack of consideration for the children of Springfield 
Road, their freedom to play safely and for peace of mind for the many parents;

- Precautions should be put in place to ensure the up most safety, such as fences and 
relevant path ways during the construction period. And damage to roads extra are 
fixed not left unattended like springfield was when Scholars park and Silverlands 
were built.

- Noise and disruption should be minimized and working hours should be limited to 
weekdays 8am to 4.30pm;

- Developers should be made aware of the Care facility to the east of the site;
- The hedgerow contains bats which should be protected.

Page 12



Observations and guidance have also been received from the Wiltshire Fire & Rescue 
Service and the Police’s Crime Prevention Design Adviser in order to improve the security 
and safety of the development.        

The concerns raised as a result of the public consultation period are all addressed within the 
following section.

9. Planning Considerations

9.1 Principle of Development 

The local development plan is the Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) (adopted January 2015). In 
accordance with the aims and objectives of the NPPF and in the interests of promoting 
sustainable development and the protection of the countryside the policies of the plan seek 
to restrict most new residential development to locations within the Limits of Development 
defined for the towns and villages. However, there is an exception with regard to matters 
such as affordable housing.

Core Policy 1 ‘Settlement Strategy’ of the WCS outlines a settlement strategy which 
identifies the settlements where sustainable development will take place to improve the lives 
of all those who live and work in Wiltshire. Core Policy 2 ‘Delivery Strategy’ of the WCS 
outlines that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development at the Principal 
Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service Centres and Large Villages and development 
should be restricted to within the limits of development other than in exceptional 
circumstances. The ‘exception polices’ are outlined within paragraph 4.25 of the WCS and 
includes rural exception sites. 

The proposed development involves the construction of six affordable dwellings under the 
rural exceptions policy of the local development plan. Core Policy 44 ‘Rural Exceptions Sites’ 
of the WCS outlines set criteria which must be met in order to allow the Local Planning 
Authority to support such proposals: 

“At settlements defined as Local Service Centres, Large and Small Villages (Core Policy 1), 
and those not identified within the settlement strategy, a proactive approach to the provision 
of affordable housing will be sought in conjunction with Parish Councils and working with 
local communities and other parties. This exception to policy allows housing for local need to 
be permitted, solely for affordable housing, provided that: 

i. The proposal has clear support from the local community 
ii. The housing is being delivered to meet an identified and genuine local need 
iii. The proposal is within, adjoining or well related to the existing settlement 
iv. Environmental and landscape considerations will not be compromised 
v. The proposal consists of 10 dwellings or fewer 
vi. Employment and services are accessible from the site 
vii. Its scale and type is appropriate to the nature of the settlement and will respect the 
character and setting of that settlement and 
viii. The affordable housing provided under this policy will always be available for 
defined local needs, both initially and on subsequent change of occupant”. 

Core Policy 12 Spatial Strategy: Devizes Community Area identifies Rowde as a Large 
Village. The principle of the proposed development can therefore be accepted subject to 
compliance with criteria i. – viii. of Core Policy 44. 

The site is located outside the current Limits of Development for Rowde and the proposal 
would therefore constitute development within the countryside. The proposed development 

Page 13



would however adjoin the existing settlement and be reasonably well related to the existing 
built up area of the village. The site is approximately half a mile from the centre of the village 
and therefore within a short walk of various local services. The proposed properties would be 
reliant to some extent on the services and facilities within the village i.e. village shop, public 
houses etc and other services and employment opportunities within the surrounding Market 
Towns and Principal Settlements which can be accessed via the public transport facilities 
(bus) via the High Street. 

The proposed development is for six dwelling only which will be for the elderly. The scale of 
the development is considered to be proportionate to the size of the settlement and will not 
put undue pressure on local services. 

Core Policy 44 outlines that a proposal must have clear support from the local community. 
The Parish Council is in support of the proposed development provided restrictions are in 
place to limit the impact of the construction phase. 

In light of the above the principle of the proposed use and development is considered 
acceptable. 

9.2 Need for Affordable Housing 

In accordance with Core Policy 44 the housing must be delivered to meet an identified and 
genuine local need. The Council’s New Housing team has therefore been consulted and 
confirmed that the proposal does form part of the wider Council house building programme 
which was approved by a committee of the Cabinet of Wiltshire Council on 16th September 
2014, with a focus on delivering bungalows for older people in rural communities. 
Furthermore, the proposals would provide 100% affordable housing which will meet an 
identified and genuine local need and, are therefore, supported by the New Housing Team. 

The proposed scheme intends to deliver all the units as affordable rented homes for the 
elderly. In this instance therefore, of particular interest and use in establishing affordable 
housing need is under-occupancy data within the Parish, as the proposed affordable housing 
is likely to attract elderly customers who are currently under-occupying existing affordable 
housing stock. The New Housing team confirmed that affordable housing data shows that for 
households of 65+ years, within the parish of Rowde, there are currently 2 households 
under-occupying by 1 bedroom and 7 households currently under occupying by 2 bedrooms.

The New Housing team confirmed that should the affordable homes not remain within the 
Council’s ownership, the affordable homes would be required to be transferred to a 
Registered Provider approved by the Council, on a nil public subsidy basis and to remain as 
affordable housing in perpetuity. The completed affordable housing units would need to be 
nominated in line with the Council's current Allocation Policy and procedures.

In light of the above it is clear that the proposed dwelling will meet an identified need and will 
be secured as affordable units. 

9.3 Loss of Agricultural Land 

The site comprises an area of undeveloped agricultural land. As such, regard must be had to 
the NPPF which advises that “local planning authorities should take into account the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where 
significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning 
authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher 
quality” (par 112). 

Page 14



Natural England’s Technical Advice Note TIN049 ‘Agricultural Land Classification: protecting 
the best and most versatile agricultural land and for guidance on soil protection’ explains that 
“the Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) provides a method for assessing the quality of 
farmland to enable informed choices to be made about its future use within the planning 
system.” The ALC system classifies land into five grades, with Grade 3 subdivided into sub-
grades 3a and 3b. The best and most versatile land is defined as Grades 1, 2 and 3a by 
policy guidance. 

The site is classed as Grade 2 and therefore the development would result in the loss of high 
quality agricultural land which the NPPF seeks to preserve. However, in this case, the 
development does not result in the loss of a significant amount of agricultural land and the 
this loss has to be set against the benefits that the scheme would deliver – in this case, 
affordable housing to meet an identified local need. The proposal would result in the 
development of only a small part of the agricultural field, the majority of which will remain 
within an agricultural use. 

9.4 Design, Layout & Impact upon Residential Amenity 

In terms of design, Core Policy 57 ‘Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping’ of the 
WCS lays down the requirement for good design. The policy outlines that “a high standard of 
design will be expected in new developments, extensions or alterations to existing buildings, 
and changes of use of existing buildings. Development is expected to create a strong sense 
of place through drawing on the local context and being complimentary to the locality”. 

The proposed site plan shows that the dwellings will be positioned around an estate road 
which would be built to an adoptable standard. The estate road will connect to Silverlands 
Road via the existing area of hardstanding which is positioned between nos.16 and 17 
Silverlands Road. The dwellings would benefit from off-street parking spaces and private 
amenity areas. 

The dwellings would be single storey and the separation distances between the proposed 
and existing dwellings will ensure no loss of amenity as a result of overlooking to the existing 
residents within the Springfield Road estate. The simple form and design of the bungalows 
would not appear out of place with the dwellings within the neighbouring estates and the use 
of an external brickwork finish for the walls and a slate tile to the roof is appropriate for the 
context of the site. 

 
9.5 Visual Impact

In relation to visual impact, Core Policy 51 ‘Landscape’ of the WCS outlines that 
development should protect, conserve and where possible enhance landscape character 
and must not have a harmful impact upon landscape character. The policy requires 
applications to demonstrate how development proposals conserve and where possible 
enhance landscape character through sensitive design, landscape mitigation and 
enhancement measures. 

The site lies within the open countryside on the edge of the village and the relationship of the 
proposed development with the existing built up area of the village and its impact on the 
character of the landscape has been carefully considered. 

The development would project further southwards beyond the established built up area of 
the village into the open countryside. The principle of extending the village southwards into 
the open countryside was previously accepted under the Council’s rural housing exceptions 
policy when the Silverlands Road estate was formed. The properties within the estate are 

Page 15



now well established and there is a mature hedge line which defines the southern boundary 
between the built up area and the open countryside and partially screens the dwellings.

The proposed development would encroach further into the open countryside and the 
proposed urban development of this site will obviously result in a permanent change in land 
use and character of the site and its immediate environs, resulting in change from 
agricultural use and character to that of urban development. However, the scheme is set 
against the backdrop of existing housing and will not result in an adverse impact on the 
wider area and with a landscape design scheme to help mitigate against the visual impact 
and taking into account the need for affordable housing within the area the principle of 
development from a landscape and visual perspective is considered acceptable. 

In terms of the potential visual impact, it is recognised that the proposed dwellings would be 
single storey and from the south would be viewed against the backdrop of the two storey 
dwellings within the Springfield Road estate. The proposed layout also proposes the planting 
of a hedgerow with native species around the perimeter of the site which would screen and 
soften the development. Full details of the proposed hedgerow and the requirement for a 
landscape management plan can be secured via a condition of any planning permission. A 
mature hedgerow would however redefine the southern boundary of this area of the village 
and help soften the impact of the development on the open countryside which was 
successfully achieved as part of the Silverlands Road development as noted above.  

9.6 Impact on Highway & Pedestrian Safety

Core Policies 60 ‘Sustainable Transport’ and 61 ‘Transport and New Development’ of the 
WCS seeks to ensure that new developments are located within sustainable locations and 
are designed to encourage the use of sustainable transport facilities. The proposal seeks 
permission under the Council’s housing exceptions policy and there are public transport 
services available within a short walk of the site.

In terms of layout, the Highway’s department are satisfied that the proposal demonstrates 
adequate parking provision and noted that there is a provision of a footway which will afford 
pedestrian access and help to secure an acceptable level of visibility from the parking 
spaces. The estate road will be built to an adoptable standard and will therefore have the 
ability to accommodate service and delivery vehicles. 

It is recognised that concerns have been raised by a local resident in relation to highway 
safety aspects associated with the proposal. These concerns have been carefully 
considered. However, it is not considered that the development would result in a significant 
increase of vehicular movements using the surrounding highway network. The bungalows 
will be provided to help meet the local need for affordable accommodation for the elderly. 
The number of trips associated with the properties will be less than the larger family homes 
within the adjoining estate.  

The NPPF advises that development proposals should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. The 
Council’s highways department is satisfied with the layout of the proposed development and 
have raised no concerns with the impact of the development on the surrounding highway 
network or pedestrian safety. The submission and approval of a Construction Method 
Statement (CMS) will ensure there are no adverse impacts as a result of the construction 
phase of the development which can be secured via a condition of the planning permission. 
The CMS will cover issues such as hours of operation, vehicular movements and parking 
areas in accordance with the request of the Parish Council.

Page 16



9.7 Ecological Impact 

Core Policy 50 Biodiversity and Geodiversity of the WCS requires that the planning authority 
ensures protection of important habitats and species in relation to development and seeks 
enhancement for the benefit of biodiversity through the planning system.  

The application is supported by an Ecological Assessment by Ethos Environmental 
Planning. The ecological assessment has identified the conservation value of the existing 
western and northern hedgerows on site; as such the development proposals include the 
retention of the majority of these features. However, a small section of the northern 
hedgerow is proposed for removal, which was assessed as not having a significant negative 
impact on biodiversity of the site. The report makes a series of recommendations as there is 
an opportunity to compensate for the loss of this habitat through the improvement of retained 
grassland areas (such the residential gardens). The development proposal also provides an 
opportunity for further habitat enhancement through formal planting within the gardens of the 
built environment and the perimeter of the site. 

In terms of protected species, the site is used by breeding birds, low numbers of foraging 
bats and common toads and mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures for 
these species will be required as part of the development proposals and are outlined within 
the report. A condition will be added to the planning permission to ensure the 
recommendations are carried forward to ensure the protection of important habitats and 
species and compliance with Core Policy 50. The Council’s Ecologist has no objection to the 
proposed development subject to the aforementioned condition.  
  
9.8 Impact on Heritage Assets 

Core Policy 58 ‘Ensuring the Conservation of the Historic Environment’ of the WCS outlines 
that development should protect, conserve and where possible enhance the historic 
environment. The site does not lie within a Conservation Area and there are no Listed 
Buildings within or adjoining the site. 

In relation to archaeological remains, the NPPF advises that “where a site on which 
development is proposed includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with 
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an 
appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation” (par 128).

A Historic Environment Desk Based Assessment by Armour Heritage has been submitted 
with the application.  The Council’s Archaeologist has reviewed the report and the 
application and indicated that “the Wiltshire and Swindon Historic Environment Record 
(HER) shows that there are no known heritage assets within the proposed development site.  
The HER indicates the focus of medieval settlement is centred off the High Street and further 
features indicative of settlement have been mapped from aerial photographs around Rowde 
Manor Farm to the north of Rowde. The Desk Based Assessment submitted with the 
application has given a low to medium potential for archaeological remains to be present 
within the site which I concur with”. The Council’s Archaeologist further stated that the NPPF 
seeks a balanced judged on the significance of the heritage asset and scale of harm and 
therefore does not consider that any archaeological investigations are necessary in relation 
to this application. The proposed development has therefore met the aims of Core Policy 58. 

9.9 Environmental Impacts, Flood Risk & Drainage

The site is within flood risk zone 1 according to Environment Agency flood risk map and is 
therefore not at risk from flooding. In terms of the surface water drainage scheme, Core 
Policy 67 ‘Flood Risk’ of the WCS seeks to ensure that all new development includes 

Page 17



measures to reduce the rate of rainwater run-off and improve rainwater infiltration to soil and 
ground (sustainable urban drainage) unless site or environmental conditions make these 
measures unsuitable.

The application is therefore supported by a Drainage Statement by Opus which includes an 
indicative drainage strategy which proposed:

- Attenuated surface water flow from the site to a ditch to the west of the site.
- Highway drainage from the site to Wessex Water’s existing 750mm diameter public 

surface water sewer.
- Foul drainage from the site to Wessex Water’s existing 100mm diameter public foul 

water sewer.

The Council’s Drainage Engineer highlighted some discrepancies between the drainage 
strategy shown on the application plans and the drainage statement and also indicated that 
soakaways will not work in this area and therefore recommended that the storm water 
strategy be reviewed following discussions with Wessex Water.

Wessex Water originally raised no concerns with the proposed development but following 
information from the Council’s Drainage Engineer they recommended further discussion 
needs to be initiated by the applicant with Wessex Water and the LLFA (Lead Local Flood 
Authority) to agree rates of surface / highway water and discharge to their respective 
apparatus. 

As a result of the above discussions have taken place between the applicants and Wessex 
Water which has resulted in the submission of an amended drainage strategy. The amended 
drainage strategy shows that surface water run-off from the site will be discharged into 
Wessex Water’s network in Silverland’s Road. Wessex Water is happy with the principle of 
the method of surface water disposal, however full details will have to be submitted and 
approved prior to the constriction of the development. The Council’s Drainage Engineer has 
no objection to the revised drainage scheme but indicated that details of the future 
ownership and maintenance regimes of the cellular storage for the dwellings included within 
the drainage scheme will have to be clarified and agreed, which can be secured via a 
condition.  

The Council’s Drainage Engineer and Wessex Water do not therefore object to the proposed 
development and feel that the site can be appropriately drained. Full details of the drainage 
strategy can be secured via a condition of the planning permission, as recommended by the 
Council’s Drainage Engineer, in order to ensure compliance with Core Policy 67. 
 
In terms of land contamination, the application is supported by a Geo-Environmental and 
Geotechnical Assessment by Earth Science Partnership which recommends further site 
investigation to fully assess the levels of contamination at the site. The Council’s Public 
Protection team has no objections to the proposed development and believe that a 
contaminated land condition does not appear to be warranted in view of historical land use 
and the general condition of the site as surveyed. However as the report has identified two 
incidences of elevated PAH albeit marginal, a contaminated land condition should be applied 
such that this can be fully assessed along with any additional survey work that is 
recommended by the consultants.

In order to limit the environmental impact of the proposed development the scheme will have 
to meet the requirements of Core Policy 41 ‘Sustainable Construction and Low-Carbon 
Energy’ of the WCS. The policy identifies how sustainable construction and low-carbon 
energy will be integral to all new development in Wiltshire. The policy aims to help reduce 
Wiltshire’s contribution to climate change through improved design and construction 
methods. In order to comply with the policy the residential development will have to be 

Page 18



designed to meet the relevant requirements of energy performance equivalent to Level 4 of 
the Code for Sustainable Homes which will be a condition of the planning permission. 

9.10 Planning Obligations

The scheme is being delivered by Wiltshire Council who will deliver all the units as affordable 
housing under Core Policy 44 ‘Rural Exceptions Sites’ of the WCS. Criteria viii. of the policy 
seeks to ensure that any affordable housing provided under this policy will always be 
available for defined local needs, both initially and on subsequent change of occupant. As 
such, the Council will sign a Unilateral Undertaking to ensure that the units are delivered as 
affordable homes. 

Policy H35 ‘Recreation Provision on Small Housing Sites’ of the former KLP (saved by 
Appendix D of the WCS) outlines that new residential developments of between 5 and 19 
dwellings will be expected to provide land for children's recreation on the basis of 0.72 
ha/1000 people. The requirements of this policy however do not apply to the proposed 
development as the dwellings will be for the elderly only. 

10. Conclusion

In summary, the proposed development will deliver six affordable dwellings for the elderly to 
meet an identified local need. The scheme is considered to be of an appropriate design for 
the context of the site will not result in a significant detrimental impact on the local landscape 
or townscape character. The development will not have any adverse ecological, or 
environmental impacts or sever highway impacts. 

No statutory consultees have objected to the proposal, and whilst the concerns of a local 
residents have been carefully considered, the scheme is considered to be in accordance 
with both the national and local planning policy and with suitably worded conditions, and a 
unilateral undertaking to secure the dwellings as affordable units, it is recommended that 
planning permission be granted. 

RECOMMENDATION
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the Council signing a Unilateral 
Agreement to ensure the dwellings are delivered as affordable units and retained as such.  

RECOMMENDATION

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004and the imposition of the following conditions:

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved document and plans: 

- Application Form;
- Existing Site Plan, no.80-01;
- Proposed Context Site Plan, no.90-01;
- Proposed Site Plan, no.90-02;
- Proposed Floor Plans for House 1 and 2, no.20-;
- Proposed Floor Plans for Houses 3 and 4 and House 5 and 6, no.20-02;

Page 19



- Proposed Typical Front and Side Elevation 1 for Houses 1 and 2, no.20-03;
- Proposed Typical Rear and Side Elevation 2 for House 1 and 2, no.20-04;
- Proposed Typical Front and Side Elevation 1 for Houses 3/4 and 5/6, no.20-05;
- Proposed Typical Rear and Side Elevation 2 for House 3/4 and 5/6, no.20-06;

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3

4

No above ground development shall commence on site until the exact details and 
samples of the materials to be used for the external walls and roofs have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
before development commences in order that the development is undertaken in an 
acceptable manner, in the interests of visual amenity and the character and 
appearance of the area

No development shall commence on site until a scheme of hard and soft landscaping 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
details of which shall include  :-

* a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, supply and planting 
sizes and planting densities; 
* means of enclosure; 
* all hard and soft surfacing materials.

REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
before development commences in order that the development is undertaken in an 
acceptable manner, to ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development 
and the protection of existing important landscape features.

5 All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried 
out in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation of the 
building(s) or the completion of the development whichever is the sooner;  All shrubs, 
trees and hedge planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected 
from damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five 
years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced 
in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  All hard landscaping shall also be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part 
of the development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the 
protection of existing important landscape features.

6 No above ground development shall commence on site until a landscape 
management plan, including long-term design objectives, management responsibilities 
and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas (other than small, privately 
owned, domestic gardens) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved 
in accordance with the approved details.

REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
before development commences in order that the development is undertaken in an 

Page 20



acceptable manner, to ensure the proper management of the landscaped areas in the 
interests of visual amenity.

7 No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until the access, 
turning area and parking spaces have been completed in accordance with the details 
shown on the approved plans. The areas shall be maintained for those purposes at all 
times thereafter.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety.

8 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
The applicant will be expected to enter into a S38 agreement under the Highways Act 
1980 with the Local Highway Authority to enable the roads to be adopted and 
maintainable at public expense. This is necessary to ensure adequate access for 
refuse vehicles.

9 No development shall commence on site (including any works of demolition), until a 
Construction Method Statement, which shall include the following:  
a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
b) the access route to the site of the vehciles of the site operatives and visitors; 
c) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
d) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
e) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 
f) measures for the protection of the natural environment.
g) hours of construction, including deliveries; 

has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved Statement shall be complied with in full throughout the construction period. 
The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the 
approved construction method statement.

REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
before development commences in order that the development is undertaken in an 
acceptable manner, to minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities, the 
amenities of the area in general, detriment to the natural environment through the 
risks of pollution and dangers to highway safety, during the construction phase.

10 No development shall commence on site until full details of the surface water drainage 
scheme shown on drawing no.D-01 R4 'Indicative Drainage Layout' has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be first occupied until surface water drainage has been 
constructed in accordance with the approved scheme.

REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission. In order that the development is 
undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure that the development can be 
adequately drained.

11 The mitigation measures detailed in section 9 of the approved Ecological Assessment 
by Ethos Environmental Planning (July 2015) shall be carried out in full prior to the first 
occupation of the development and/or in accordance with the approved timetable 
detailed in the Ecological Assessment.

REASON: To mitigate against the loss of existing biodiversity and nature habitats.

Page 21



12 The dwellings hereby approved shall achieve a level of energy performance at or 
equivalent to Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.  No dwelling shall be 
occupied until evidence has been issued and submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority certifying that this level or equivalent has been achieved.

REASON: in order to ensure the development reduces its impact and contribution to 
climate change through improved design and construction methods.

13 No development shall commence on site (other than that required to be carried out as 
part of a scheme of remediation approved by the Local Planning Authority under this 
condition), until steps (i) to (iii) below have been fully complied with. If unexpected 
contamination is found after development has begun, development must be halted on 
that part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing until step (iv) has been complied with in full 
in relation to that contamination.

Step (i)         Site Characterisation:

An investigation and risk assessment must be completed to assess the nature and 
extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The 
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a 
written report of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The report of the findings must include:

- A survey of the extent, nature and scale of contamination on site;
- The collection and interpretation of relevant information to form a conceptual 
model of the site, and a preliminary risk assessment of all the likely pollutant linkages;
- If the preliminary risk assessment identifies any potentially significant pollutant 
linkages a ground investigation shall be carried out, to provide further information on 
the location, type and concentration of contaminants in the soil and groundwater and 
other characteristics that can influence the behaviour of the contaminants;
- An assessment of the potential risks to: 
*    human health,
*     property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops,  
livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes,
*     adjoining land,
*     groundwater and surface waters,
*     ecological systems,
*     archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

Step (ii)         Submission of Remediation Scheme:

If any unacceptable risks are identified as a result of the investigation and assessment 
referred to in step (i) above, a detailed remediation schemeto bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use must be prepared. This should detail the works 
required to remove any unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other 
property and the natural and historical environment, should be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include all 
works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a 
timetable of works and site management procedures. 

Step (iii) Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme: 
The approved remediation scheme under step (ii) must be carried out in accordance 
with its requirements. The Local Planning Authority must be given at least two weeks 
written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. 

Page 22



Step (iv) Reporting of Unexpected Contamination: 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it should be reported in writing 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment 
should be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of step (i) above and 
where remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme should be prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of step (ii) and submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

Step (v) Verification of remedial works: 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. The report 
should demonstrate the effectiveness of the remedial works.

A statement should also be provided by the developer which is signed by a person 
who is competent to confirm that the works detailed in the approved scheme have 
been carried out (The Local Planning Authority can provide a draft Remediation 
Certificate when the details of the remediation scheme have been approved at stage 
(ii) above). 

The verification report and signed statement should be submitted to and approved in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

Step (vi) Long Term Monitoring and Maintenance: 

If a monitoring and maintenance scheme is required as part of the approved 
remediation scheme, reports must be prepared and submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval at the relevant stages in the development process as approved 
by the Local Planning Authority in   approved pursuant to step (ii) above, until all the 
remediation objectives in that scheme have been achieved. 

All works must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency’s “Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11” 
and other authoritative guidance. 

REASON: he matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in an 
acceptable manner, to ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors.

14 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
This permission shall be read in conjunction with an Agreement made under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 and dated the ...........

15 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
The attention of the applicant is drawn to the contents of letter from the Wiltshire Fire 
& Rescue Service dated 18 September 2015 which can be viewed on the Council's 
website www.wiltshire.gov.uk 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO THE EAST AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No. 1

Application Number 15/09105/FUL

Site Address Land to the South of Silverlands Road, Rowde, Devizes

Proposal 6 new single storey dwellings and associated parking and access 
from Silverlands Road (Affordable rent dwellings for the elderly, 
provided by Wiltshire Council)

Case Officer Morgan Jones

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT FOR EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No. 2

Date of Meeting 10th December 2015

Application Number 15/07022/FUL

Site Address The Coach House, Winterbourne Monkton SN4 9NF

Proposal Erection of new general purpose building to be used as a learning 
centre, office and storage space and creation of new access and 
parking area.

Applicant Tonic Construction

Town/Parish Council WINTERBOURNE MONKTON

Electoral Division WEST SELKLEY – Jemima Milton 

Grid Ref 409955  172991

Type of application Full Planning

Case Officer Ruaridh O'Donoghue

Reason for the application being considered by Committee 
This application is brought to committee at the request of Divisional Member, Cllr 

Milton.

1. Purpose of Report 

The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of 
the development plan and other material considerations and to consider the 
recommendation that the application be refused.

2. Report Summary
The key issues for consideration are the principle of development (whether it is located 

in a location supported by national and local planning policy) and the impact on the 

character and appearance of the area.

3. Site Description
The application concerns Tonic Construction who are based at The Coach House, 

Winterbourne Monkton near Swindon. In planning policy terms, the site lies within the 

open countryside, outside of the defined built up area for Winterbourne Monkton and 

closer to the hamlet of Berwick Bassett. The site and its surroundings lie within the 

North Wessex Downs AONB. There is a Public Right of Way (PRoW) running to the 

west of the site approximately 150m away (BBAS3).   

Page 27

Agenda Item 7b



  

Site Location

Page 28



4. Planning History

K/57696/F Erection of agricultural building and construction of a pond – approved 
2008

E/09/1199/FUL Retrospective application for change of use from agricultural 
barn/workshop to office and agricultural barn/workshop - refused

E/10/0661/FUL Retrospective application for change of use from agricultural 
barn/workshop to office and agricultural barn/workshop - approved

14/00351/FUL Extension to existing building and replacement area of hardstanding - 
approved.

5. The Proposal
The application is for the erection of a new general purpose building to be used as a 

learning centre, office and storage space and the creation of a new access from the 

A4361 and a parking area. 

The proposed building will measure 45m in length, 16m in width and 8m in height. The 

existing building on the site to the north is approximately 24m in length, 12m in width 

and 6m in height. The proposed building represents a 134% increase in floor area and 

would be 2m higher than this existing building.

The new access will be located between the existing and proposed building. The space 

between the two buildings will form the parking area for the business.

The existing building currently has planning permission for use of approximately 1/3 of 

the building for the offices of Tonic Construction. 

Page 29



6. Planning Policy
Wiltshire Core Strategy 2015 (WCS):

 Core Policy 1 – Settlement Strategy 

 Core Policy 2 – Delivery Strategy 

 Core Policy 14 – Marlborough Area Strategy 

 Core Policy 51 – Landscape

 Core Policy 57 – Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping

 Core Policy 61 – Transport and New Development  

National Planning Policy Framework 2012

Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 Kennet Landscape Conservation Strategy (2005)

 Wiltshire Landscape Character Assessment (December 2005)

Other Material Considerations

 AONB Management Plan 2015

Page 30



 North Wessex Downs: Integrated Landscape Character Assessment (March 

2002)

7. Summary of consultation responses
Wiltshire Council Highways (initial response) 

 No objection, subject to the provision of visibility splays and parking.

Winterbourne Monkton and Berwick Bassett Parish Council 

This is to confirm that at a meeting of the Winterbourne Monkton and Berwick Bassett 

Parish Council on 14th August 2015 the Council decided unanimously that it had no 

objections to this planning application.

8. Publicity
The application has been advertised by way of a site notice and consultations with the 

neighbours.

One letter of objection has been received from a local resident who considers that the 

proposal is wholly inappropriate in this setting and represents a further incursion into the 

rural landscape, extending development further towards Winterbourne Monkton.

 

9. Planning Considerations
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act states that “determination 

must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise”. Paras 2 & 11 of the NPPF reiterate and confirm this requirement. This is the 

starting point for determination from a policy point of view.

9.1 Principle of Development
The site lies well outside the limits of development of any settlement in the area. Core 

Policy 2 states that development will not be permitted outside of these limits, unless it 

meets the exceptions set out in the list at paragraph 4.25 of the Strategy. One of these 

exceptions is for employment land, as long as it is in accordance with the requirements 

of Core Policy 34 (Additional employment Land). This policy permits development for 

employment purposes outside of the limits of development, but only where it is adjacent 

to a principal settlement, market town or local service centre. None of these exceptions 

apply here in this isolated rural location. 

Page 31



The proposal is therefore in entirely the wrong location in relation to the polices of the 

Core Strategy, which seek to encourage the siting of facilities such as these in locations 

where people actually live and can access without having to commute outwards from the 

existing settlements.

9.2 Landscape Impact
 The site is located within the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB). National Planning Policy recognises the importance of the countryside in its 

core planning principles where at paragraph 17 it states the planning system should 

recognise ‘the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.” It expands upon this 

point in Section 11 – Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment. At Paragraph 

115 the NPPF states that “Great weight should be given to conserving landscape and 

scenic beauty in…Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of 

protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty.”

At the local level, Core Policy 51 of the WCS emphasises the conservation, protection 

and where possible enhancement of Wiltshire’s distinctive landscapes. Proposals will 

need to demonstrate that landscape character has been conserved and where possible 

enhanced through sensitive design, landscape mitigation and enhancement measures 

and that, in relation to AONB’s, great weight should be afforded to their conservation and 

enhancement. It also states that proposals within the AONB need to demonstrate that 

they have taken account of the policies, objectives and actions of the relevant 

management plans. 

In addition to this, Core Policy 57 of the WCS states that new development proposals will 

need to demonstrate how they will make a positive contribution to the value of the natural 

environment and its landscape setting. No reference has been made to this policy or 

indeed how the development complies with it.    

The proposal involves the erection of a large and bulky building that has no intrinsic 

architectural merit and is simply a large box that will create an intrusive feature in the 

landscape, and when taken with the existing smaller agricultural building that has a 

partial change of use to employment purposes, creates a mini- industrial complex in the 

open countryside within the area of outstanding natural beauty.  

The proposal will clearly cause harm to the character and appearance of the landscape, 

and whilst some screening may be possible from the A4361, this is reduced by the 

Page 32



punching through of the new vehicular access and in any event, the building will be in 

prominent view from the nearby public footpath that runs close to the stream to the west.  

The proposal conflict with both national and local planning policies designed to protect 

the landscape of the area of outstanding natural beauty.

Council Officers have sought to explore whether a smaller building that would not have 

the harm of a structure of this bulk and size could be possible, but the plans have not 

been amended.

9.3 Highways Safety / Parking
The proposed access has demonstrated visibility standards that are acceptable to the 

Council’s Highways Department. They are also satisfied that the adjoining road network 

can accommodate the extra traffic likely to be associated with the development. As such, 

they raise no objections to the access with regards to highway safety as set out in the 

tests at paragraph 32 of the NPPF. 

9.4 Other material considerations
The proposal would provide a ‘learning centre’ additional office and storage space. The 

justification for it is that the applicants are bringing their external training back ‘in house’ 

and that the existing building is used at maximum capacity. Whilst it is understandable 

that the applicants may wish to bring training and construction storage ‘on site’, this is 

not sufficient justification for a building of this bulk and size to be constructed in a 

countryside location within the area of outstanding natural beauty. 

10. Conclusion (The Planning Balance)
In determining this application the local planning authority is fully aware that if 

development accords with an up-to-date Local Plan it should be approved, and that 

proposed development that conflicts should be refused unless other material 

considerations indicate otherwise.

In consideration of the above it is concluded that the development of a training facility 

with office and storage facilities outside of the Limits of Development in open 

countryside, would harm the landscape character and scenic quality of the North Wessex 

Downs AONB and would conflict with both national planning policy that states that 

AONB’s should have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic 

beauty. Furthermore, the application site is located in an unsustainable location where 

policies within the WCS and the Framework taken as a whole are not supportive of new 

Page 33



development of this scale and nature. The limited economic benefits of providing such a 

training centre in this entirely unsuitable location are not considered to warrant the 

significant departure from planning policy that this proposal would represent and do not 

provide a level of benefit that would outweigh the planning harm identified above.  

In light of this, the proposal is considered to be contrary to policies CP1, CP2, CP51, 

CP57, CP60 and CP61 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and to central government 

guidance contained within the NPPF. 

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the application be refused for the following reasons:

1) The site is located in open countryside in a remote location outside of the built up area of 

nearby settlements. The development is not permissible under any of the exceptions policies 

listed at paragraph 4.25 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy 2015. As such, the proposal would 

conflict with Core Policies 1, 2, 14, 60 and 61 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy 2015, which 

seeks to properly plan for sustainable development in Wiltshire. 

2) The proposed development by virtue of its design, height, size and prominent location 

would cause significant harm to the landscape character, scenic quality and to that of views 

and visual amenity of the North Wessex Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty which is 

recognised in Paragraph 112 of the NPPF as having the highest status of protection in 

landscape terms. The proposal is therefore contrary to Core Policies 51 and 57 of the 

Wiltshire Core Strategy 2015 and to central government guidance contained within the 

National Planning Policy Framework.   

Page 34



REPORT TO THE EAST AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No. 1

Application Number 15/07022/FUL

Site Address The Coach House, Winterbourne Monkton SN4 9NF

Proposal Erection of new general purpose building to be used as a learning 
centre, office and storage space and creation of new access and 
parking area.

Case Officer Ruaridh O'Donoghue

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	7a 15/09105/FUL - Land to the South of Silverlands Road, Rowde, Devizes, SN10 2BF
	Item 7a - 15/09105/FUL Map

	7b 15/07022/FUL - The Coach House, Winterbourne Monkton SN4 9NF
	Item 7b - 15/07022/FUL Map


